RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

03-04-2019

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP2326-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ORLANDO C. DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers Presiding, and From an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Mary Kuhnmuench Presiding, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PAMELA MOORSHEAD Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1017490

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the postconviction court err as a matter of law when it ruled that the plea colloquy met the requirements of $Bangert^I$ even though the judge did not summarize the elements of the crimes to which Mr. Davis was pleading guilty or ascertain that he understood those elements in any other way contemplated in Bangert?

Circuit court decision: The State conceded that there was a *Bangert* violation. The circuit court initially agreed, but then reversed its decision.

2. Did the postconviction court err as a matter of law when it assigned the burden of proof to Mr. Davis on the question whether the pleas were nonetheless knowing and voluntary?

Circuit court decision: The circuit court ruled that Mr. Davis had not proved that his pleas were involuntary by clear and convincing evidence.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case involves the application of settled law to a singular set of facts. Neither publication nor oral argument is requested.

¹ State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Davis pled guilty to one count of misdemeanor intimidation of a victim, one count of violation of a domestic abuse injunction, and one count of criminal trespass to dwelling, all with penalty enhancers for habitual criminality. (19). A plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form was filed, which did not list the elements of the offenses. The box indicating "see attached sheet" was checked. (13). Attached to the plea form were jury instructions for the criminal trespass to dwelling and violation of injunction offenses, but not the victim intimidation offense. (14).

At the plea hearing, the circuit court, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers, inquired of Mr. Davis: "Did you talk to Mr. Gaertner about what the elements of each charge are and the evidence the state would have to prove each of those elements?" Mr. Davis responded, "yes." (49: 5). The Court did not explain the elements of the offenses or inquire whether defense counsel had read the jury instructions to Mr. Davis.

The court sentenced Mr. Davis to a total of six years in prison divided equally between initial confinement and extended supervision. (19). Mr. Davis subsequently filed a postconviction motion to withdraw his plea on the ground that the circuit court failed to ensure that he understood the elements of the offenses to which he was pleading as required by *State v. Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986). (28). The motion alleged that Mr. Davis' attorney did not read the jury instructions

to him or have him read them and that he did not know that the offense of criminal trespass to dwelling under Wis. Stat. §943.14 included an element of "circumstances tending to create or provoke a breach of the peace." (28: 2). Further, the motion alleged that Mr. Davis did not know that the offense of violating a under domestic abuse injunction Wis. §813.12(4) and (8) included the element that he knew his conduct violated the injunction. Finally, the motion alleged that Mr. Davis was unaware of the elements of the offense of intimidation of victim under Wis. Stat. §940.45(1) at the time of the plea. (28: 2).

The postconviction court, the Honorable Mary Kuhnmuench, held a hearing on the postconviction motion, which lasted an entire day.

The court addressed the question whether the plea colloquy met the requirements of *Bangert*. The State conceded that the requirements of *Bangert* were not met and that under *Bangert*, the burden shifted to the State to show that Mr. Davis' plea was nonetheless knowing and voluntary. (50: 17, 19, 22). The postconviction court ruled accordingly. (50: 21-22).

The State called Mr. Davis and Attorney Gaertner as witnesses. The following is a summary of their testimony as relevant to the issues in this appeal:

Orlando Davis:

Mr. Davis confirmed that he wanted to withdraw his pleas because he "did not understand

everything that was related to the plea." (50: 25). He correctly identified the charges he was initially facing. (50: 25). Mr. Davis acknowledged that he had previously entered guilty pleas in other cases to charges of bail jumping, carrying a concealed weapon, and child neglect. (50: 40-41).

When asked what he and his attorney had done to prepare to enter the pleas in this case, Mr. Davis indicated, "I guess we went over the necessary documents that he felt I needed to be aware of." He said, "I'm not sure every document. It was a lot of paperwork just thrown at me at one time." (50: 41-42). He acknowledged signing the plea questionnaire and waiver of rights form. (50: 42).

Mr. Davis said he had a college degree. (50: 42). He said that he did not read the plea form, but his attorney read it to him. (50: 43). He said that he did not fully understand everything in the document, but he signed it. (50: 44). Mr. Davis said he did not understand everything. He said he was in a "state of depression" at the time and "just went along with the flow." (50: 46). He pointed out that he never told the judge that he understood the elements of the offenses. (50: 46). Mr. Davis acknowledged that he answered "yes" when asked, "Do you understand what the district attorney would have to prove to find you guilty of each of these charges if we had a trial?" (50: 47). He also acknowledged that he answered "yes" when asked, "Did you talk to Mr. Gaertner about what the elements of each charge are and what the State would have to prove each (sic) of those elements?" (50: 47).

Mr. Davis clarified that although he knew what he was being charged with, he did not understand "what had to be proved for me to be charged with those crimes." (50: 49). When the State asked him what he understood about the victim intimidation charge, he indicated that he thought "as long as I intimidated her that I was guilty." (50: 49). With regard to the charge of violating a domestic abuse indicated injunction, Mr. Davis that his understanding was that "as long as I violated that, I was guilty . . . I guess it was about me just being in her presence is violating it" (50: 50).

Mr. Davis testified that he did not remember what his attorney told him about the elements of the offenses. (50: 53). He said that he did not recognize the jury instructions that were attached to the plea questionnaire. (50: 54). He did not recall discussing them with his attorney. (50: 54-55).

Mr. Davis testified that when he pled guilty, he did not know what the term "elements" or the phrase "elements of the offense" meant. (50: 56-57). He became aware of the meaning of these legal terms when postconviction counsel explained them to him. (50: 57). He indicated that when he told the judge during the plea colloquy that he understood what the State would have to prove as to each of the offenses, he did so because he thought he did understand. (50: 57-58).

Mr. Davis testified that he understood at the time of the motion hearing that to prove him guilty of intimidating a victim, the State would have to prove more than that he did something intimidating toward her. He said that he did not understand that when he but of guilty became aware it postconviction counsel explained it to him. (50: 58). Similarly, regarding the charge of violation of a domestic abuse injunction, Mr. Davis testified that he understood at the time of the motion hearing that the State would have to prove that he knew that he was violating the injunction. However, he did not know that when he pled guilty but became aware of it when postconviction counsel explained it to him. (50: 58). Finally, regarding the charge of criminal trespass to dwelling, he testified that at the time of the motion hearing, he understood that the State would have to prove circumstances tending to cause a breach of the peace. However, he did not understand that when he guilty; $_{
m he}$ became aware of postconviction counsel explained it to him. (50: 59).

Mr. Davis explained that he and his attorney went over the plea form on the scheduled trial date at counsel table in the courtroom. (50: 60). He did not recall the jury instructions being part of what was presented to him. (50: 60). When asked why he told the judge at the plea hearing that he understood the charges he was pleading guilty to, he answered, "I told the court I understood because I thought that they meant understood what I'm pleading guilty to, not exactly the gray areas involved within the charges itself." (50: 61).

Attorney Kevin Gaertner:

Attorney Gaertner testified that initially, the plan was to have a trial. (50: 80). He and Mr. Davis "discussed potentially entering pleas at several times

... in the county jail." (50: 80). On the day the trial was scheduled to proceed, the State presented a new plea offer, which involved amending the felony victim intimidation charge to a misdemeanor. (50: 80). Mr. Davis was sitting at counsel table. Mr. Gaertner discussed the new offer with him, and Mr, Davis decided to accept it. (50: 80). In his prior discussions with Mr. Davis regarding different plea offers and options, Attorney Gaertner said he discussed with Mr. Davis the elements of the charges he was facing at the time "numerous times." (50: 81).

Attorney Gaertner testified that he went over the complaint with Mr. Davis and that he discussed the elements of the offenses in the complaint. (50: 83). He said there were multiple times prior to the plea when they discussed the elements of the offenses. (50: 84). Attorney Gaertner testified that the victim intimidation and violation of injunction charges were the "focus of a lot of [their] discussions." (50: 84).

However, when asked whether he could specifically recall any of the prior occasions when he discussed the elements of the offenses with Mr. Davis, Attorney Gaertner only recalled specifically discussing the violation of injunction charge because there were "numerous conversations about what the State was going to have to prove on that particular charge." (50: 92). This was because Attorney Gaertner had drafted a motion to dismiss that charge because he did not believe that Mr. Davis had been served with the injunction. (50: 92-93). He recalled meeting with Mr. Davis numerous times to discuss that motion. (50: 93). When asked what he

specifically recalled discussing with Mr. Davis, he recalled that they specifically discussed the issue of whether Mr. Davis knew this order was in place and whether he had been served with it. (50: 96-97). He ultimately did not litigate the motion because the State provided him with an affidavit of service. (50: 99). He did not recall any other specific instance of discussing the elements of the offenses with Mr. Davis. (50: 96). He did not believe he took notes during the discussions. (50: 97).

Attorney Gaertner said that he went over the plea form with Mr. Davis. He did not recall if Mr. Davis had questions. (50: 85). He testified that Mr. Davis did not seem confused about any of the charges. He believed that Mr. Davis understood the elements of the offenses. (50: 85).

When Mr. Gaertner went over the plea form with Mr. Davis, they were at counsel table, and a jury panel was waiting to be brought in. (50: 89). They were either lined up outside or on the way. (50: 89). He acknowledged that the situation was atypical and not ideal. (50: 90). He believed that the process took "probably the average amount of time it would take me to read the entire form and ask all the questions of whether he understood like I normally do." (50: 92). He acknowledged that the plea form did not contain the elements of the offenses. (50: 92).

Attorney Gaertner was shown the jury instructions that were attached to the plea form that was filed with the court—the instructions relating to the violation of injunction charge and the criminal trespass charge. Regarding those, he testified "I did

go over these two with the Court." (50: 86). He indicated that he typically would have his client initial the jury instructions after reading them to him. He did not do that in this case, and he did not recall why. He said, "It might have been due to time constraints." (50: 96). He said "I was cognizant that the judge had us on a clock." (50: 96).

He recalled that he did not have the instruction for the misdemeanor victim intimidation charge, but he had the felony jury instruction with him. He specifically recalled that he read that instruction to Mr. Davis and explained that the fourth element of that instruction would not apply because Mr. Davis was pleading to a misdemeanor charge. (50: 87). He did not recall Mr. Davis having any questions. (50: 88). Attorney Gaertner indicated that if he had believed that Mr. Davis did not understand the elements, he would not have proceeded with the plea. (50: 88).

Attorney Gaertner acknowledged having had the experience of explaining something to a client, believing that he had a good grasp of it, and then at some later time having the client ask a question that led him to believe that client did not have a good grasp of it at all. (50: 91). He did not recall that happening with Mr. Davis as far as he was aware. (50: 98). Attorney Gaertner said that in his previous discussions with Mr. Davis about the previous plea offers, he did not go over the plea form with Mr. Davis. (50: 91).

Attorney Gaertner testified that he typically would read the criminal complaint to his client at the

preliminary hearing, but could not specifically recall what happened at the preliminary hearing in Mr. Davis' case. (50: 94). It was not his standard practice to re-read the complaint to his client at any point after the preliminary hearing, and he did not recall doing so in this case. (50: 94).

The Ruling of the Postconviction Court:

The postconviction court recessed for lunch and then returned to issue a ruling on the motion. The court's ruling took up 44 pages of transcript. (50: 117-161; App. 103-170). Although the State had conceded that there was a *Bangert* violation, and the court had ruled accordingly, after lunch the court announced that it would examine the plea colloquy in Bangert and the one in this case and compare them. (50: 118). The court read long passages from the Bangert decision into the record, including the entire plea colloguy from that case. (50: 124-129, 133-136; App. 134-139, 143-146). The court then read the entire plea colloquy from the plea hearing transcript from this case into the record. (50: 136-139, 140-142, 145-152; App. 146-149, 150-152, 155-162). The court stopped at various points to comment on the deficiencies in the *Bangert* plea colloquy that were not present in this case. (50: 130-31, 141, 142 149, 154, 156; App. 140-141, 151, 152, 159, 164, 166). The court repeatedly characterized the plea colloquy in this case as more "nuanced" than the one in *Bangert* in various ways. (50: 156; App. 166).

Ultimately, the court reversed itself on the question whether there was a *Bangert* violation in the first instance, noting that the *Bangert* decision

set forth the procedures by which a judge could ascertain the defendant's understanding of the elements of the offense, and saying that "Judge Kremers followed one of those processes. (50: 158; App. 168). The court found that Judge Kremers asked Attorney Gaertner "Did you do it" and asked Mr. Davis if he had read the complaint and gone over it with his lawyer, and Mr. Davis said "yes." (50: 159; App. 169). The court ruled that this was sufficient to satisfy *Bangert*. (50: 159; App. 169). In actuality, Judge Kremers never asked Mr. Davis if he had read the complaint and gone over it with his lawyer.

Woven through its comparison between the two plea colloquies, the court also commented on the testimony that had been presented at the motion hearing. The court noted the testimony about the last-minute change of plea and the time constraints that resulted. The court concluded this alone was not enough to render the plea involuntary. (50: 123). The court found that Mr. Gaertner testified "very convincingly" about how he recalled going over the felony victim intimidation jury instruction with Mr. Davis because he did not have the misdemeanor instruction and how he explained that the fourth element did not apply. (50: 137, 157; App. 147, 167). The court noted that Mr. Davis did not give this kind of detail, but merely testified that Attorney Gaertner did not go over the jury instructions with him, "with no other corroborating or reasonable evidence in the record that would support that allegation." (50: 140; App. 150). The court said that this went to "credibility on this specific point." (50: 138). In this regard, the court believed Attorney Gaertner to be more credible than Mr. Davis. (50: 139, 157; App. 149, 167).

The court further indicated that it believed Attorney Gaertner's detailed testimony about the service of the injunction being an issue in the case and the motion they discussed. (50: 155; App. 165).

The court declared that Mr. Davis made his claims "in hindsight after a sentence he wasn't expecting and didn't want." The court said, "We know that because Ms. Lewand asked him today and he said "Yeah. I was not happy with the sentence." (50: 143; App. 153). Actually, that never happened. The prosecutor did ask Mr. Davis, "Did the fact that the court sentenced you to six years in prison have any influence on your position about knowing what the elements are?" He answered, "No." (50: 63). Relying on its own mischaracterization of the testimony, the court repeatedly described Mr. Davis' testimony as "buyer's remorse," accusing him of fabricating his lack of understanding because his attorney argued for probation, and he did not get it. (50: 157-158; App. The court also repeatedly accused Mr. Davis of testifying that he had not been competent when he entered the plea, although he never said anything like that. (50: 142, 143, 158; App. 152, 153, 168). The court also accused Mr. Davis of falsely claiming that his attorney never went over the complaint with him. (50: 159; App. 169). He never said that either.

Ultimately, the court declared "I don't believe that he [Mr. Davis] has come close to the clear and convincing evidence that is required to allow him to withdraw his plea post-sentencing. His motion is denied." (50: 159; App. 169).

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction and standard of review.

A defendant who seeks to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing "must show that a manifest injustice would result if the withdrawal were not permitted." State v. Booth, 142 Wis. 2d 232, 235, 418 N.W.2d 20 (Ct. App. 1987), State v. Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d 377, 385-86, 151 N.W.2d (1967). One example of such a manifest injustice is where the plea is not knowing and voluntary. Reppin, 35 Wis. 2d at 385. "A plea of no contest that is not voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered violates fundamental due process." State v. Van Camp, 213 Wis. 2d 131, 139, 569 N.W.2d 577 (1997), citing State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 257, 389 N.W.2d 12 (1986).

Bangert established a two-step process to determine whether defendant voluntarily, a knowingly and intelligently entered a guilty plea. The defendant bears the initial burden for withdrawal. In order to make a prima facie case for plea withdrawal, the defendant must show his plea was accepted without the trial court's conformance with Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d at 274. defendant must also allege he "in fact did not know or understand the information which should have been provided at the plea hearing." *Id*. Once the defendant makes a prima facie case, the burden then shifts to the state to prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary and intelligently entered despite the inadequacy of the record at the plea hearing. *Id*.

Whether there are deficiencies in the plea colloquy that establish a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory duties at a plea hearing is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. See State v. Brandt, 226 Wis.2d 610, 618, 594 N.W.2d 759 (1999). Likewise, whether the motion for plea withdrawal has sufficiently alleged that the defendant did not know or understand information that should have been provided at the plea hearing is a question of law. See State v. Bentley, 201 Wis.2d 303, 310, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996).

Whether a plea was entered knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily is a question of constitutional fact that is reviewed independently. $State\ v.\ Cross$, 2010 WI 70, ¶ 14, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 786 N.W.2d 64. In making this determination, the appellate court accepts the circuit court's findings of historical or evidentiary facts unless they are clearly erroneous. Id.

II. The circuit court failed to meet the requirements of *Bangert* for a valid plea.

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