RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-13-2019

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Appeal Case No. 2018AP002326-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

ORLANDO C. DAVIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal From a Judgment of Conviction, the Honorable Jeffrey A. Kremers Presiding, and From an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, the Honorable Mary Kuhnmuench Presiding, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

Samuel Tufford Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1099952 Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Davis is not entitled to withdraw his plea.

A defendant seeking plea withdrawal under *Bangert* has two initial burdens. *See Brown*, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 39-40. First, he must "make a prima facie showing of a violation of Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) or other court mandated duties by pointing to passages or gaps in the plea hearing transcript." *Id.* ¶ 39. Second, he must "allege that [he] did not know or understand the information that should have been provided at the plea hearing." *Id.* `

In this case, Judge Kuhnmuench held a hearing and the State conceded that the plea with Judge Kremers was "thin" enough to grant the hearing, but that testimony would fill in any gaps left by Judge Kremers. (R50:22). The State elicited testimony as outlined above, which led Judge Kuhnmuench to her ruling.

A. The circuit court correctly ruled that the circumstances and record of Judge Kremers's plea colloquy with Mr. Davis met the requirements set forth under the law.

Judge Kuhnmuench first examined Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1) and found that the requirements in the statute were met. (R50:118-119). In relevant part, that statute reads:

<u>971.08</u> Pleas of guilty and no contest; withdrawal thereof.

(1) Before the court accepts a plea of guilty or no contest, it shall do all of the following:

(a) Address the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge and the potential punishment if convicted.

(b) Make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged.

The *Bangert* case and its progeny illustrate how a court **may** do this:

First, the trial court may summarize the elements of the crime charged by reading from the appropriate jury instructions, or from the applicable statute. Second, the trial judge may ask defendant's counsel whether he explained the nature of the charge to the defendant and request him to summarize the extent of the explanation, including a reiteration of the elements, at the plea hearing. Third, the trial judge may expressly refer to the record or other evidence of defendant's knowledge of the nature of the charge established prior to the plea hearing. For example, when a criminal complaint has been read to the defendant at a preliminary hearing, the trial judge may inquire whether the defendant understands the nature of the charge based on that reading. A trial judge may also specifically refer to and summarize any signed statement of the defendant which might demonstrate that the defendant has notice of the nature of the charge

State v. Bangert, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 268, 389 N.W.2d 12, 23–24 (1986) (internal citations omitted).

However, as Mr. Davis concedes, this list is "not necessarily exhaustive of the methods which a trial judge may exercise in satisfying the antecedent step to its statutory obligation to personally determine the defendant's understanding." (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, pp. 15-16, *citing Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d 246, 268, 389 N.W.2d 12, 24 (1986)).

The key word is "understanding." A plea will not be voluntary unless the defendant understands the nature of the constitutional rights he is waiving. *Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2d at 265, 389 N.W.2d 12. "If a defendant does not understand the nature of the charge and the implications of the plea, he should

not be entering the plea, and the court should not be accepting the plea." *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 37, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 618, 716 N.W.2d 906, 918. On the other hand, if a defendant does understand the charge and the effects of his plea, he should not be permitted to game the system by taking advantage of judicial mistakes. *Id.*

A court cannot just ask if a defendant understands his charges, there needs to be questions into the circumstances around a defendant's answers:

> "[I]t is no longer sufficient for a trial judge merely to perfunctorily question the defendant about his understanding of the charge. Likewise, a perfunctory affirmative response by the defendant that he understands the nature of the offense, without an *affirmative showing* that the nature of the crime has been communicated to him or that the defendant has at some point expressed his knowledge of the nature of the charge, will not satisfy the requirement of sec. 971.08, Stats."

Bangert, 131 Wis.2d at 268-69, 389 N.W.2d 12 (emphasis added).

As such, the true procedural purpose of *Bangert* and its progeny is to eliminate perfunctory questioning. For instance, the *Brown* case, decided some twenty years after *Bangert*, sought to expand *Bangert*, stating "This opinion is intended to revitalize *Bangert*, which allows a court to tailor a plea colloquy to the individual defendant." *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 58, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 627, 716 N.W.2d 906, 922.

Brown reinforces the idea that a colloquy can be – and should be – tailored to the individual defendant when measuring his or her understanding. For example, one factor the court in Brown considered in a Bangert analysis was that the defendant in Brown had maturity, literacy, and education issues at the time of the offense:

> "Brown was a 17-year-old high-school dropout. He had completed ninth grade but was illiterate and had been diagnosed with reading and mathematics disorders. At the sentencing hearing, Brown's attorney told the court: "Mr. Brown is not a slow reader. He's not a poor reader. He is a

nonreader. He's as deficient in this regard as anybody I've ever represented in 20-some years."

State v. Brown, 2006 WI 100, ¶ 9, 293 Wis. 2d 594, 606, 716 N.W.2d 906, 912

The court in *Brown* also made noted that the defendant's deficiencies were coupled with a lack of effort from both is attorney and the circuit court. The Brown court notes procedurally, pursuant to only being orally told about the charges at the initial appearance and a pre-hearsay preliminary hearing waiver, "Neither the criminal complaint nor the information was ever read to Brown in court before the plea hearing." *Id.*

What's crucial here, and what can be seen in *Brown* and *Bangert*, is that the plea colloquy must be tailored to the individual defendant; there is no one-size-fits-all.

Judge Kremers's plea colloquy with Mr. Davis fulfilled the law. Judge Kremers met the requirements as outlined above, and his questions of Mr. Davis measured Mr. Davis's ability to understand and appreciate what he was doing when he entered his plea. Judge Kuhnmuench noted this in her ruling, also took into account the circumstances of Mr. Davis's plea which were testified to at the post-conviction hearing.

Upon hearing that Mr. Davis was going to plead, Judge Kremers first informed Mr. Davis of the amendment to the first count which was a amending the felony charge to a misdemeanor. (R49:3) Judge Kremers also mentioned the statute, date, and the location of the incident, along with the maximum penalty Mr. Davis was facing, then asked Mr. Davis if he understood what he was charged with in that count and the maximum possible penalty. (R49:3). Mr. Davis indicated he did. (R49:3)

Judge Kremers moved to the next count for Violating a Domestic Abuse injunction and informed him of the date of the incident and maximum penalty and asked if Mr. Davis if he understood the charge and maximum penalty. (R49:4). Mr. Davis indicated he did. (R49:4). Judge Kremers moved to the last count of Criminal Trespass and informed Mr. Davis of the date of the incident and maximum possible penalty, then asked Mr. Davis if he understood the charge and maximum possible penalty. (R49:4). Mr. Davis indicated yes. (R49:4).

Judge Kremers confirmed that there were no threats or promises made to Mr. Davis to change his plea, and then referred to the plea form and verified that Mr. Davis signed the form, went over the form with his attorney before he signed it, and understood that by signing it he is giving up all the constitutionally rights listed on the form and plead guilty to the three charges. (R49:4-5). Judge Kremers then asked Mr. Davis if that was done freely and voluntarily, to which Mr. Davis said yes. (R49:5). Judge Kremers asked Mr. Davis if he understood what the district attorney would have to prove to find him guilty of each of the charges if there was a trial, and if he had talked to his attorney about what elements of each charge are, and the evidence that the state would have to prove as to each of those elements. (R49:5). Mr. Davis stated he did. (R49:6). Judge Kremers also warned Mr. Davis that the court was not bound by any agreement and was able to sentence him up to the maximum of 6 years, to which Mr. Davis said yes. (R49:6).

Judge Kremers then turned to Mr. Davis's attorney and asked him if he was satisfied that Mr. Davis was entering his pleas freely, voluntarily, and intelligently, with a full understanding of the charges, penalties, and rights being given up, and if the court may use the complaint as a factual basis to which his attorney stated yes. (R49:6).

Judge Kremers turned back to Mr. Davis and asked him if he read the criminal complaint. (R49:6). Mr. Davis said yes. (R49:6). The court asked him if it was accurate, and Mr. Davis said yes. (R49:6). The court then explained read-ins. (R49:6-7). Just before wrapping up, the court caught itself, as noted by Judge Kuhnmuench, and then confirmed that Mr. Davis agrees to the factual basis of repeater status. (R49:7).

Judge Kremers did what was required under the law, and this record demonstrates that Mr. Davis, in fact, did understand what he was doing. This colloquy, combined with the Plea Questionnaire and Waiver of Rights Addendum, and the Jury Instructions, are a far cry from the shaky colloquy in *Bangert*, or the failure to take into account any deficiency that Mr. Davis may have similar to the man in *Brown*. Judge Kuhnmuench noted that Mr. Davis's appeal is attempting to hold the court to a higher standard than what *Bangert et. al.* calls for, and that the record clearly demonstrates that this was not a wham-bam-thank-you-ma'am.

Furthermore, while the State conceded initially at the hearing that the colloquy was thin, Atty. Gaertner filled in the gaps. Atty. Gaertner explained what was talked about with Mr. Davis and what happened procedurally with the case; providing more light on what the plea colloquy and questionnaire demonstrate what Mr. Davis knew at the time he plead. Mr. Davis also expanded the record as well by talking about his state of mind.

Accordingly, Judge Kuhnmuench properly found that Judge Kremers did what was required of him. Judge Kuhnmuench made a very detailed record and pointed to numerous specific instances that show Mr. Davis's plea was not a mindless droning of perfunctory questions. She also noted that Mr. Davis is both well-educated, and his prior experience in the criminal justice system lead her to believe that his current claims are contradictory to what the record demonstrates.

B. The record demonstrates that Judge Kuhnmuench correctly applied the burdens of proof.

Mr. Davis's second argument comes from Judge Kuhnmuench stating that based on the testimony in the post-conviction hearing, Mr. Davis had not "come close to the clear and convincing evidence that is required to allow him to withdraw his plea post-sentencing." (R50:159).

The *Cross* case is instructive as to the burdens in a *Bangert* hearing.

A defendant establishes that the circuit court failed at one of its duties by filing a motion (a "*Bangert* motion") that: (1) makes a prima facie showing of a violation of § 971.08(1) or other court-mandated duties; and (2) alleges that "the defendant did not know or understand the

information that should have been provided at the plea hearing." A defendant attempting to make this prima facie showing must point to deficiencies in the plea hearing transcript; conclusory allegations are not sufficient.

Upon making this showing, the defendant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing (known as a "Bangert hearing") at which the State must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the defendant's plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent despite the deficiencies in the plea hearing. If the State cannot meet its burden, the defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea as a matter of right. However, if a defendant seeking to withdraw his guilty plea cannot show that the circuit court failed in its duties during the plea hearing, or if the State meets its burden of proving the plea was knowing, voluntary, and intelligent, withdrawal of the plea is left to the discretion of the circuit court and will not be disturbed unless the defendant demonstrates a manifest injustice will result from the court's refusal to allow the plea to be withdrawn.

State v. Cross, 2010 WI 70, ¶¶ 19-21, 326 Wis. 2d 492, 504–05, 786 N.W.2d 64, 70–71 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In this case, Judge Kuhnmuench knew the burdens assigned and did not make the uninformed ruling Mr. Davis claims she made. For instance, at the post-conviction hearing, Judge Kuhnmuench was speaking to the attorneys on the record with regards to the procedure of the hearing and noted that the burden is on the State. (R50:10). Mr. Davis's counsel noted that everything Judge Kuhnmuench said was "absolutely correct." (R50:10).

The burdens were further discussed and the attorney for the State said:

[...] and as far as the burden, if the Court is making a finding that the defense has met their initial burden in establishing a prima facie case and there was a defect in the plea colloquy, and at this point, if the Court was relying on the motion itself or if the defense intends to question Mr. Davis about his actual understanding and the Court is going to make a finding that there was that defect and that he didn't understand, then the burden would shift to me to establish that based on the totality of the

circumstances there's enough evidence in the record to support an upholding of the plea.

(R50:13).

The burdens were again discussed in more depth and Judge Kuhnmuench stated that the prima facie case had been met by Mr. Davis to warrant a hearing, stating:

> [...] and you have met your burden, in establishing a prima facie showing for the plea withdrawal after sentencing at this time. That decision by this Court is based on, as I indicated to the parties earlier, my recent review or refreshment of the *Bangert* case, which I was more than willing to look at again and take a few minutes to look at, if the parties were going to disagree, particularly the State, with my analysis that there is nothing in *Bangert* that requires anything more in the motion than what Ms. Moorshead has done, which is that she has to make the allegations.

(R50:20)

Based on that, Judge Kuhnmuench said:

[...] because of that I find that they have met their initial burden in setting forth a prima facie showing for at least an initial burden showing a basis for a plea withdrawal postsentencing. That, now, as I understand it, shifts the burden to the State to provide some evidence, in whatever form you choose to provide this court, and let me hear it and see it and review it to make the second piece of this decision, which is whether or not you've been able to successfully rebut the defense's initial prima facie showing by the other parts of the record that you wish to point out to this Court that demonstrate Mr. Davis's allegations, which is the second prong of his motion does not hold water, if the Court considers these other facts that were also a part of that plea colloquy.

(R50:21-22).

The State again confirmed that it is the State's burden and called both Mr. Davis and Atty Gaertner to testify. This was direct testimony, as someone who has the burden would elicit. Once the evidence was closed, the court took a brief break. After the break, Judge Kuhnmuench stated: I did use the intervening time to review a couple of cases, including, once again, what I think to be the relevant language of the *Bangert* case, *State versus Bangert*, 131 Wis. 2nd 274. The Court notes that I believe that it's a 1984 Supreme Court of Wisconsin case that is dispositive on the issue of the requirements, the mandatory requirements of trial judges under 971.08(1) also I wanted to make sure I reviewed the entire statute involving withdrawals of pleas and confer[sic] what the burden of proof is, what the shifting burdens are to understand whether clear and convincing evidence by the State to refute the allegations by the defendant as to why he should be allowed to withdraw his plea, that that was the correct standard.

(R50:102-103).

Judge Kuhnmuench then stated to the attorneys regarding closing arguments:

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